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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1) The Federal Rules of Evidence 501 precludes evidence of privileged communications at trial. 

Samantha Gold had a privileged conversation with her psychotherapist where she used a 

common phrase to express her frustration, however, the psychotherapist perceived the 

comment as a threat and alerted the police. The police investigated the statement and 

GHWHUPLQHG 3HWLWLRQHU ZDV QRW D WKUHDW. IV WKH FRQILGHQWLDO VWDWHPHQW GXULQJ 6DPDQWKD¶V 

psychotherapy treatment session admissible at trial where the threats were previously 

investigated and dismissed by law enforcement? 

2) 7KH FRXUWK APHQGPHQW SURWHFWV LQGLYLGXDOV IURP XQUHDVRQDEOH VHDUFKHV. 0V. GROG¶V 

URRPPDWH YLHZHG VRPH RI WKH ILOHV EXW FRSLHG WKH HQWLUHW\ RI 0V. GROG¶V GHVNWRS Zithout her 

permission and handed the information over to the police. The police officers exceeded the 

VFRSH RI WKH VHDUFK FRQGXFWHG E\ 0V. GROG¶V URRPPDWH DQG VHDUFKHG KHU HQWLUH GHVNWRS 

ZLWKRXW D ZDUUDQW. :DV 0V. GROG¶V CRQVWLWXWLRQDO 5LJKW YLRODWHG ZKHQ the police conducted 

a broader search than the one conducted by the private party? 

3) The FBI received two reports from individuals claiming they had information about who 

killed Tiffany Driscoll. The FBI never followed up on those hearsay reports. Accordingly, 

the Government did not disclose those reports to Samantha Gold. Were the requirements of 

Brady v. Maryland, Zhich proWecW a DefendanW¶V Wrial righWV and enVXre fairneVV in Whe 

criminal justice system, violated when the Government failed to disclose potentially 

exculpatory evidence, that it argues was inadmissible at trial? 
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

This appeal is from the judgment of the United States District Court of Appeals for the 

Fourteenth District. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Title 18 U.S.C. § 

1716(j)(2), 18 U.S.C. § 1716(j)(3), and 18 U.S. Code § 3551 et seq. for Petitioner¶s conYiction 

of mailing injurious nonmailable articles.   

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

When reviewing a district court's denial of a motion to suppress, we review the court's 

legal conclusions de novo and defer to the district court's factual findings unless those findings 

are clearly erroneous. United States v. Scott, 731 F.3d 659, 663 (7th Cir. 2013).  

³In ruling on [a motion to suppress,] the trial court (1) finds the historical facts, 

(2) selects the applicable rule of law, and (3) applies the latter to the former to determine whether 

the rule of law as applied to the established facts is or is not violated. The court's resolution of 

the first inquiry, which involves questions of fact, is reviewed under the deferential substantial-

evidence standard. Its decision on the second, which is a pure question of law, is scrutinized 

under the standard of independent review. Finally, its ruling on the third, which is a mixed facts-

law question that is however predominantly one of law, viz., the reasonableness of the challenged 

police conduct, is also subject to independent reYieZ. The reason is plain: µit is ³the ultimate 

responsibility of the appellate court to measure the facts, as found by the trier, against the 

constitutional standard of reasonableness.¶´ People v. Michael E., 178 Cal. Rptr. 3d 467, 471±72 

(2014). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. Procedural History 

On June 6, 2017, Samantha Gold (³Ms. Gold´) Zas indicted b\ a grand jur\ and Zas charged 

with Title 18 U.S.C. § 1716(j)(2), 18 U.S.C. § 1716(j)(3), and 18 U.S. Code § 3551 et seq. ± 

Delivery By Mail of An Item With Intent to Kill or Injure. R. at 1. Ms. Gold was accused of 

killing and poisoning Tiffan\ Driscoll (³Ms. Driscoll´). Ms. Driscoll Zas found dead on Ma\ 25, 

2017, after she ingested strychnine, which was in the strawberries that were mailed to her. R. at 

14. Prior to Ms. Gold¶s jur\ trial, the defense brought a motion to suppress the testimon\ of 

digital eYidence that Ms. Gold¶s roommate, Jennifer Wildaughter (³Ms. Wildaughter´), obtained 

from Ms. Gold¶s laptop, Zithout her permission, and presented it to Officer Aaron Yap (³Officer 

Yap´) of the LiYingston Police Department. R. at 31-32. Officer Yap exceeded the scope of the 

private search when he examined files not inspected by Wildaughter. R. at 32. The defense 

further moved to suppress the testimony of Gold¶s ps\chiatrist, Dr. Chelsea Pollak (³Dr. 

Pollak´), since her testimon\ Zould be based on a confidential therap\ session betZeen the tZo. 

R. at 35-36. The defense argued that permitting Dr. Pollak to testify would violate Federal Rules 

of Evidence Rule 501. R. at 35-36.  

After an evidentiary hearing, the Honorable Frank Nicholas denied the motion to suppress on 

all grounds. R. at 41. At trial, the Government called Dr. Pollak to testify against Ms. Gold, 

presented the testimony of Ms. Wildaughter, and offered the evidence that Officer Yap obtained 

from the flash drive that Ms. Wildaughter presented him. R. at 51. Additionally, the Government 

argued that Ms. Gold blamed her financial debt on Ms. Driscoll for recruiting her to join the 

vitamin company, HerbImmunity. R. at 51. Following her conviction, Ms. Gold was convicted 

and sentenced to life in prison. After Ms. Gold¶s conYiction, the defense moYed for post-
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conviction relief based on the GoYernment¶s failure to disclose tZo FBI reports that contained 

leads on tZo other indiYiduals that could be responsible for Ms. Driscoll¶s death. R. at 43. 

Ms. Gold contended that the GoYernment¶s failure to disclose these FBI reports Yiolated 

the requirements set forth in Brady v. Maryland. R. at 43. The Honorable Frank Nicholas denied 

the motion for post-conviction relief. R. at 48-49. On December 2, 2019, Gold appealed to the 

Fourteenth Circuit Court in order to obtain post-conviction relief based on the District Court's 

error in permitting Dr. Pollak's testimony, allowing the USB flash drive examined by Officer 

Yap to be admitted at trial, and for the failure to turn over the FBI reports pursuant to Brady. R. 

at 51. The Fourteenth Circuit denied the motion for post-conviction relief. R. at 52-56.  

The Supreme Court granted certiorari.  

II. Factual Background 

On May 25, 2017, at 12:00 p.m., Ms. Gold had an appointment with her psychotherapist, 

Dr. Pollak, who she had been seeing since 2015. Specifically, Dr. Pollak was treating Ms. Gold 

IRU IQWHUPLWWHQW E[SORVLYH DLVRUGHU, RU ³IED,´ ZKLFK LV FKDUDFWHUL]HG E\ UHSHDWHG HSLVRGHV RI 

aggressive, impulsive, or violent behavior. Dr. Pollak managed to have a breakthrough with Ms. 

Gold after diagnosing her with IED, and begin effectively treating her through weekly 

psychotherapy. R. at 17.  

Ms. Gold had never presented any dangerous episodes, yet on May 25, 2017, Dr. Pollak 

noticed that Ms. Gold seemed a bit more disheveled than usual. Ms. Gold was behaving 

erratically and stated to Dr. Pollak that she was upset with Ms. Driscoll. Ms. Driscoll had 

recruited Ms. Gold to join the multi-level marketing group she had begun working for in 2016, 

HerbImmunity. Ms. Gold invested $2,000 in having to buy HerbImmunity products. R. at 18. 

MV. GROG ZDV LQ GHEW DV VKH ZDV XQVXFFHVVIXO LQ UHFUXLWLQJ RWKHUV WR EX\ HHUEIPPXQLW\¶V 
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SURGXFWV. DXULQJ WKH VHVVLRQ, MV. GROG LOOXVWUDWHG WR DU. PROODN, ³I¶P VR DQJU\! I¶P JRLQJ WR NLOO 

her. I will take care of her and her pUHFLRXV HHUEIPPXQLW\. AIWHU WRGD\, I¶OO QHYHU KDYH WR VHH RU 

WKLQN DERXW KHU DJDLQ.´ R. at 19. Ms. Gold wound up leaving the psychotherapy appointment 

early.  

AW 1:15 S.P. WKDW VDPH GD\, OIILFHU NLFROH FXFKV (³OIILFHU FXFKV´) UHFHLYHG D FDOO DW WKH 

Joralemon Police Department Station from Dr. Pollak to report that she feared for the safety of 

her patient, Ms. Gold, and Ms. Driscoll. Officer Fuchs went to check on Ms. Gold at Joralemon 

UQLYHUVLW\ ZRPHQ¶V UHVLGHQFH DIWHU UHFHLYLQJ DU. PROODN¶V UHSRUW. OQFH WKere, Ms. Gold appeared 

calm and rational. After speaking with Ms. Gold for 15 minutes, Officer Fuchs determined she 

posed no threat to herself or to others. As a precautionary measure, Officer Fuchs then contacted 

WKH UQLYHUVLW\¶V DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ WR GHWHUPLne the location of Ms. Driscoll; Ms. Driscoll was in 

class. Officer Fuchs warned Ms. Driscoll that there had been a threat reported against her, but 

she returned to class, not concerned. Officer Fuchs concluded that Ms. Driscoll was not in 

danger. R. at 5.  

Later that same day at approximately 4:40 p.m., Ms. Wildaughter appeared at the 

Livingston Police Department precinct and gave Officer Yap a flash drive with certain files she 

pulled from Ms. Gold's computer. Ms. Wildaughter mentioned to Officer Yap that she believed 

that Ms. Gold may be planning to poison Ms. Driscoll. Ms. Wildaughter had gone through Ms. 

GROG¶V ODSWRS ZLWKRXW KHU SHUPLVVLRQ DQG YLHZHG RQO\ RQH IROGHU RQ MV. GROG¶V FRPSXWHU. MV. 

Wildaughter further informed Officer Yap that she had viewed a short, unsigned note directed to 

Ms. Driscoll, telling her how kind she was and offering her some sort of gift, and a text file 

containing passwords and codes she did not understand, and that she saw a file with the word 
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³VWU\FKQLQH´ LQ LW, which is a common rat poison. R. at. 6. Ms. Wildaughter omitted mentioning 

their apartment previously had a rat infestation problem. R. at 29.   

After Ms. Wildaughter left the precinct, Officer Yap inspected all files that Ms. 

Wildaughter had informed him about and continued to look at all the subfolders that Ms. 

Wildaughter had not seen.  

On Friday, May 26, 2017, an edition of the Joralemon Journal reported that Ms. Driscoll 

KDG EHHQ IRXQG GHDG DW KHU IDWKHU¶V KRXVH RQ WKH HYHQLQJ RI MD\ 25, 2017. TKH DUticle also 

reported that Ms. Driscoll was a sales representative at Herb Immunity and that many disgruntled 

students called HerbImmunity nothing more than a pyramid scheme. The Journal further stated 

that there was no forensic evidence, no footprints, no fingerprints, and no weapons present in 

Ms. Driscoll's home. R. at 13.  

On Monday, May 29, 2017, the Joralemon Journal followed up the story reporting that 

Ms. Gold was arrested for being a suspect in Ms. Driscoll's murder. The Journal concluded its 

reporting that law enforcement officers were happy because they were unable to find any 

physical evidence at the scene pointing to the cause of death or a suspect before arresting Gold. 

R. at 14. 

OQ JXQH 2, 2017, FBI AJHQW MDU\ BDHU LQWHUYLHZHG CKDVH CDSORZ (³CDSORZ´). CDSORZ 

attended Joralemon University with Ms. Driscoll and was also involved in HerbImmunity. 

Caplow indicated that Driscoll called him to notify him that she owed money to an upstream 

GLVWULEXWRU ZLWKLQ WKH FRPSDQ\, MDUWLQ BURGLH (³BURGLH´). AGGLWLonally, Caplow indicated that 

there were rumors that Brodie could be violent. R. at. 11. 

Nevertheless, on June 6, 2017, Ms. Gold was formally indicted by a grand jury and was 

charged with Title 18 U.S.C. § 1716(j)(2), 18 U.S.C. § 1716(j)(3), and 18 U.S. Code § 3551 et 



6 
 

seq. ± Delivery By Mail of an Item With Intent to Kill or Injure. R. at 1. However, the FBI 

FRQWLQXHG WR UHFHLYH OHDGV DERXW RWKHU SRVVLEOH VXVSHFWV UHODWHG WR MV. DULVFROO¶V PXUGHU. OQ 

July 7, 2017, FBI Agent Mark St. Peters received an anonymous phone call in connection with 

WKH GHDWK RI MV. DULVFROO. TKH DQRQ\PRXV WLSVWHU DOOHJHG WKDW BHOLQGD SWHYHQV (³SWHYHQV´) ZDV 

responsible for the murder of Ms. Driscoll and indicated that both Stevens and Driscoll were 

involved in HerbImmunity. R. at 12.  

Ms. Gold was convicted and sentenced to life in prison. R. at 41.  

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

Ms. Gold suffers from a mentally diagnosable disorder, which results in sudden outbursts 

of rage. Ms. Gold experienced one of these episodes while at her therapy session with Dr. Pollak, 

which Dr. Pollak perceived as a threat, directed towards Ms. Driscoll. Dr. Pollak reported the 

comment to the police, who investigated and dismissed the tip. Since the tip did not result in any 

action and in order to promote a healthy environment of a trusting psychotherapist-patient 

confidentiality, Dr. Pollak should not have been able to testify against Ms. Gold at trial.  

TKH GRYHUQPHQW¶V ZDUUDQWOHVV VHDUFK RI MV. GROG¶V FRPSXWHU ZDV DQ XQUHDVRQDEOH 

search which led to Ms. Gold being prosecuted and convicted. Ms. Wildaughter did not have 

DXWKRULW\ WR ORRN WKURXJK MV. GROG¶V FRPSXWHU. EYHQ LI WKLV CRXUW ZHUH WR ILQG WKDW WKH SULYDWH 

party search doctrine applies, Officer Yap violated the doctrine by exceeding the scope of the 

search that was initially done by Ms. Wildaughter.  

Brady v. Maryland set forth requirements and guidelines for disclosing evidence to the 

defense before trial. The court in Erickson went on to state three factors that must be met in order 

to form a valid Brady claim. Here, Ms. Gold meets all three requirements of a Brady claim. First, 

the prosecution suppressed two FBI reports from the defense prior to trial. The FBI received two 
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separate reports alleging someone else was the true killer of Ms. Driscoll. The prosecution, 

believing the reports were inadmissible hearsay, failed to disclose the reports to the defense. 

Second, the FBI reports Zere faYorable to Ms. Gold¶s case because the\ were exculpatory 

evidence. They would have allowed Ms. Gold to present a stronger defense at trial. Any evidence 

that points to someone else as the killer is favorable in a criminal case. Third, the FBI reports 

were material in that, had they been disclosed, there is a reasonable probability they would have 

undermined the confidence of the outcome at trial. The jury would not have been able to 

conclude, beyond a reasonable doubt, that Ms. Gold was the killer when there was evidence of 

another suspect with a motive and history of violence also in play. Thus, all three elements of 

Ms. Gold¶s Brady claim have been satisfied, meaning the Government violated her constitutional 

rights. 

ARGUMENT 

I. OQFH WKH PROLFH IQYHVWLJDWHG WKH 7LS IURP MV. GROG¶V PV\FKRWKHUDSLVW and 
FRXQG 7KDW MV. DULVFROO :DV NRW LQ IPPLQHQW DDQJHU, DU. PROODN¶V DXW\ WR 
Inform Law Enforcement of the Perceived Emergency had Abated. Dr. Pollak 
Was Not Entitled to Breach the Patient-Psychotherapist Privilege by Testifying 
Against Ms. Gold at Trial. 

  
In the United States alone, there are 328.2 million people. Of those 328.2 million people, 

one in four adults suffers from a diagnosable mental disorder. JOHN HOPKINS MEDICINE. Mental 

Health Disorder Statistics. https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/wellness-and-

prevention/mental-health-disorder-statistics, (last visited Feb. 14. 21.) This fact alone shows the 

importance of therapy and psychotherapist-patient confidentiality, which explains why the 

Federal Rules of Evidence 501 precludes evidence of privileged communications at trial. FRE 

501 left the law of privileges in its present state and further provided that privileges shall 

continue to be developed by the United States courts under a uniform standard applicable both in 

civil and criminal cases. It is appropriate for federal courts to recognize a psychotherapist 
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priYilege under FRE 501, and ³this is confirmed b\ the fact that all fift\ states and the District of 

Columbia have enacted into law some form of ps\chotherapist priYilege.´ Jaffee v. Redmond, 

518 U.S. 1, 3 (1996). 

Boerum Health and Safety Code § 711 is applicable in relation to disclosing confidential 

communications: 

Communications between a patient and a mental health professional 
are confidential except where:  a) The patient has made an actual 
threat to physically harm either themselves or an identifiable 
victim(s); and b) The mental health professional makes a clinical 
judgment that the patient has the apparent capability to commit such 
an act and that it is more likely than not that in the near future the 
patient will carry out the threat. 

 
Ibid. This Court should reverse the lower court's holding because the Fourteenth Circuit, 

improperly, did not preclude confidential testimony at trial. Holding that there is a dangerous 

exception to the patient-psychotherapist privilege will undermine the rationale for FRE 501 as it 

will discourage individuals with severe mental illnesses from fully disclosing their paranoia, 

psychosis, or other dangerous thoughts they may be entertaining.    

a. 7KH CRQILGHQWLDO CRPPXQLFDWLRQ 7KDW OFFXUUHG DXULQJ MV. GROG¶V 
Psychotherapy Treatment is Inadmissible at Trial Because the Federal Rules 
of Evidence 501 Precludes Privileged Communication. 
 

A psychotherapist-patient relationship is a special relationship that requires 

confidentialit\, as ³confidentialit\ is the essential ingredient for successful ps\chotherap\.´ Scull 

v. Superior Court, 254 Cal. Rptr. 24, 26 (1988). Under Tarasoff, the only circumstance in which 

this privilege will give way is once a therapist determines (either by their judgment or under 

applicable professional standards) that a patient poses a danger of violence to others, he bears a 

duty to exercise reasonable care to protect the foreseeable victim of that danger by warning them. 

Tarasoff v. Regents of Univ. of Cal., 131 Cal. Rptr. 14 (1976). The discharge of such duty varies 
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with the facts of each case. Ibid.  The Sixth Circuit interpreted the rationale behind this rule is, 

³the preservation and protection of the health and safety of innocent third parties outweigh the 

good achieved by maintaining the confidentiality of life-threatening communications.´ United 

States v. Hayes, 227 F.3d 578, 583 (2000). 

In Jaffee v. Redmond, this Court recognized a psychotherapist-patient testimonial 

privilege under FRE 501. Jaffee, 518 U.S. at 116. Reason and experience persuade that a 

privilege protecting confidential communications between a psychotherapist and her patient 

promotes sufficiently important interests to outweigh the need for probative evidence. Id. at 3.  

This Court, hoZeYer, made an infamous footnote, Zhich read, ³[A]lthough it Zould be 

premature to speculate about most future developments in the federal psychotherapist privilege, 

we do not doubt that there are situations in which the privilege must give way, for example, if a 

serious threat of harm to the patient or to others can be averted only by means of a disclosure by 

the therapist.´ Id. at 18 n.19.  

The Fourteenth Circuit, in deciding this present matter, stated ³The onl\ Za\ to read the 

Jaffee footnote is that Zhen a serious threat requires disclosure, the ps\chotherapist¶s right to 

refuse to testif\, or her patient¶s priYilege to bar that testimon\, ceases to e[ist.´ R. at 53. The 

Fourteenth Circuit adopted the reasoning of the Fifth and Tenth Circuits that recognize the 

exception to the psychotherapist-patient privilege. Ibid. This Court should reverse this holding 

because the Fourteenth Circuit erred in deciding this present matter in that they disregarded the 

entirety of the Jaffee holding, and merely focused on a footnote.  

i. Dr. Pollak Properly Followed Protocol When She Suspected Ms. 
Driscoll Might be in Danger. When the Police Investigated Her Tip, 
They Found That Ms. Gold Appeared Calm and Rational. Since the 
Police Investigated the Tip and Determined She Posed No Threat to 
Herself or Others, the Psychotherapist-Patient Privilege Should be 
Preserved. 
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Confidential communications between a licensed psychotherapist and a patient in the 

course of treatment are protected from compelled disclosure under FRE 501. Jaffee, 518 U.S. at 

3. This includes notes taken during their counseling sessions. Ibid.  

When the right to disclosure clashes with a privilege, the court is required to ³indulge in a 

careful balancing´ of the need for disclosure against the fundamental right of priYac\.  Scull v. 

Superior Court, 254 Cal. Rptr. 24, 27 (1988). The privilege scope is determined by balancing the 

interests protected by shielding the evidence sought with those advanced by disclosure. Ibid. 

When the balance swings in favor of disclosure, the court is required to limit the scope of 

discoYer\ ³to the e[tent necessar\ for a fair resolution of the laZsuit.´ Ibid.  

In People v. Wharton, the court upheld a ruling where a psychotherapist can testify at 

trial about the statement which triggered the warning because the defendant decided to waive his 

privilege by placing his mental state in issue as a tactical decision in response to an evidentiary 

ruling by the trial court. 280 Cal. Rptr. 631, 655 (1991). The psychotherapist in Wharton gave 

the warning directly to the victim, instead of the police officers, and the victim admitted to the 

psychotherapist she has been in situations where she had feared he would kill her. Id. at 522. In 

our present case, the warning was given to police officers to investigate the tip. The police did 

so, and found Ms. Gold to be ³calm and rational.´ R. at 5. The police even warned Ms. Driscoll, 

³Zho e[pressed no concern.´ Ibid. Most importantly, Ms. Gold did not waive the privilege, Dr. 

Pollak testified against Ms. Gold¶s Zishes. As such, waiving the constitutional right to privacy at 

a psychotherapist session cannot be made in reliance on People v. Wharton. The Fourteenth 

Circuit cited Wharton b\ noting the court there stated, ³if the dangerous patient-exception 

became inapplicable after the death of a potential victim, a dangerous patient could regain 
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protection of the priYilege b\ simpl\ killing the Yictim.´ Ibid. That concern is not of issue in our 

present case. The facts are simply, too different.  

Ms. Gold is diagnosed with intermittent explosive disorder. Intermittent explosive 

disorder involves repeated, sudden episodes of impulsive, aggressive, violent behavior or angry 

verbal outbursts in which you react grossly out of proportion to the situation. Mayo Clinic Staff, 

Intermittent Explosive Disorder, MAYO CLINIC, Sept. 19, 2018. 

https://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/intermittent-explosive-disorder/symptoms-

causes/syc-2037392. Ms. Gold expressed valid concern because of the financial hardship 

imposed upon her b\ her belief in Ms. Driscoll¶s statements. The Record does not giYe rise to an 

inference that Ms. Gold is a danger to societ\. The Record doesn¶t eYen shoZ Yalid concern that 

Ms. Gold had the intent to kill Ms. Driscoll. Ms. Gold stated ³I¶m so angr\! I¶m going to kill her. 

I¶ll take care of her and her precious HerbImmunit\. After toda\, I¶ll neYer haYe to see or think 

about her again.´ R. at 4. Judging off the objectiYe meaning of her Zords, it makes sense Zh\ 

someone would infer that harm will be caused on Ms. Driscoll. Some people, however, even 

Zithout IED, haYe similar outbursts and sa\ the phrase ³I¶m going to kill X.´ Additionall\, in 

our present matter, it¶s not black and Zhite, this Court cannot rel\ merel\ on the objectiYe 

meaning of the words. Dr. Pollak is a licensed professional who should understand that on the 

road to recovery, a patient might have outbursts. Further, her behavior was consistent with her 

diagnosis. Therefore, the Fourteenth¶s Circuit¶s concern is not releYant here.  

In United States v. Glass, the defendant was voluntarily admitted to a mental health 

facility to treat an ongoing mental illness. 133 F.3d 1356, 1356 (10th Cir. 1998). The defendant 

told their psychotherapist they wanted to shoot the president; the psychotherapist warned the 

secret service, and the defendant was later arrest. Ibid. In Glass, the statement arose in the course 
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of his treatment, presumabl\ in ³an atmosphere of confidence and trust´ Zhere Mr. Glass Zas 

³Zilling to make a frank and complete disclosure of facts, emotions, memories, and fears.´ Ibid. 

at 1356. After the statement was made, the psychotherapist did not feel the need to disclose the 

statement. Ibid. The psychotherapist only revealed the statement when the defendant was 

released from the hospital after agreeing to participate in an outpatient program. Ibid. The Tenth 

Circuit, relying on Jaffee¶V opinion which stated that the contours of the privilege would be 

fleshed out on a case-by-case basis, held that the psychotherapist-patient privilege announced in 

Jaffee is available to protect Mr. Glass under FRE 501; further stating that footnote 19 of Jaffee 

is applicable only where the threat was serious when made and disclosure was the only way of 

averting harm. Ibid. The Tenth Circuit further guided on remand that the district court should 

determine whether in the context of this case, whether the threat was serious when it was uttered 

and whether its disclosure was the only means of averting harm when the disclosure was made.  

ii. Under United States v. Hayes, WKH ³DDQJHURXV PDWLHQW´ E[FHSWLRQ 
Would Have a DHOHWHULRXV EIIHFW RQ WKH ³AWPRVSKHUH RI CRQILGHQFH 
DQG 7UXVW´ LQ WKH PV\FKRWKHUDSLVW-Patient Relationship; the 
Testimony Serves a Public End, But it is an End That Does Not 
Justify its Means; and the Adoption of the Exception is Ill-Advised. 

  
In United States v. Hayes, the Si[th Circuit concluded that there should be no ³dangerous 

patient´ e[ception to the priYilege as stated in Jaffee. 227 F.3d 578 (6th Cir. 2000).  The Sixth 

Circuit noticed merely a marginal connection between a psychotherapist's action in notifying a 

third part\ and a court¶s refusal to permit the therapist to testif\ about the threat. Id. at 583-584. 

The Sixth Circuit correctly noted that the footnote in Jaffee is just dictum and debated whether 

the dictum establishes a precedentially binding ³dangerous patient´ e[ception to the federal 

psychotherapist-patient testimonial privilege applicable under FRE 501. Ibid. The Sixth Circuit 

rejected the ³e[ception´ for three reasons.  
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First, the recognition would have a deleterious effect on the ³atmosphere of confidence 

and trust´ in the ps\chotherapist-patient relationship. Ibid. The Sixth Circuit stated that early 

advice regarding the requirement to disclose would have a marginal effect on whether or not a 

patient engages in open and honest conversation during therapy. Ibid. HoZeYer, ³an additional 

Zarning that the patient¶s statement ma\ be used against him in a subsequent criminal 

prosecution Zould certainl\ chill and Yer\ likel\ terminate open dialogue.´ Ibid; (citing Gregory 

B. Leong, et al., The Psychotherapist as Witness for the Prosecution: The Criminalization of 

Tarasoff, AM. J. PSYCHIATRY 1011, 1014 (Aug. 1992). Since this Court recognized the 

importance of mental health when ruling in Jaffee, if the dangerous patient exception was 

recognized, its logical consequence such as preventing open conversation, is the first reason to 

reject it. Ibid.  

Second, the Sixth Circuit stated that allowing a psychotherapist to testify against his or 

her patient in a criminal prosecution ³serYes a public end´ but it is an end that does not justif\ its 

means. Ibid. The Court referenced Jaffee, where the footnote recognized there are two interests 

at stake: first, the improYement of our citi]ens¶ mental health achieYed (in part, b\ open 

dialogue) and second, the protection of innocent third parties. The Si[th Circuit stated, ³We 

believe, therefore, that the Jaffee footnote is no more than an aside by Justice Stevens to the 

effect that the federal psychotherapist-patient privilege will not operate to impede a 

psychotherapist's compliance with the professional duty to protect identifiable third parties from 

serious threats of harm.´ Ibid. A psychotherapists testimony used to prosecute and incarcerate a 

patient who came to them for professional help cannot be justified. Ibid. The court, additionally, 

feared the stigma that is attached to the patient after their sentence is served after being 

incarcerated after a psychotherapist testifies against their own client. The court concluded that 
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the proposed "dangerous patient" exception is unnecessary to allow a psychotherapist to comply 

with his or her professional responsibilities and would seriously disserve the "public end" of 

improving the mental health of our Nation's citizens. Ibid.  

Third, the Si[th Circuit opined the adoption of ³dangerous patient´ e[ception is ill-

advised. Ibid. The court concluded b\ stating that ³reason and e[perience´ teach us that the 

dangerous patient exception should not be part of the federal common law. Ibid.  Therefore, the 

Sixth Circuit concluded the psychotherapist-patient privilege does not impede a 

ps\chotherapist¶s compliance Zith his professional and ethical duty to protect innocent third 

parties. Ibid.  

In our present case, Dr. Pollak, pursuant to Boerum Health and Safety Code § 711, called 

the Police to report the comments Ms. Gold made during their session. The Fourteenth Circuit in 

deciding our present matter stated it is ³recogni]ing the e[ception to the priYilege for tZo 

interconnected reasons: (1) there is no value in preserving confidentiality under the 

psychotherapist-patient testimonial privilege once that confidentiality has already been breached 

b\ a therapist¶s required reporting, and (2) once such confidentialit\ has been breached, the jur\ 

should be alloZed to consider that eYidence at trial.´ R. at 52.  

Assuming the privilege has already been breached, the Fourteenth Circuit¶s reasoning 

may be applicable to some cases, but it is not applicable given our set of facts. The Police 

inYestigated the tip from Dr. Pollack and found that ³[s]he appeared calm and rational. After 

speaking with her for 15 minutes, we determined she posed no threat to herself or to others [«] 

Ze determined that Driscoll Zas not in an\ imminent danger.´ R. at 5. The district court stated, 

³[Z]hen a secret is out, it is out for all time, and cannot be caught again like a bird and put back 

in its cage.´ R. at 41. After the tip was investigated, Ms. Gold was awarded psychotherapist-
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patient privilege yet again, because the psychotherapist was wrong about the severity of Ms. 

Gold¶s comments. Thus, although the confidentialit\ Zas breached, as a matter of public policy 

in preserving whatever privacy is left of individuals, this Court should disagree with the 

reasoning of the lower court.  

The Fourteenth Circuit¶s second reason for alloZing the jur\ to consider the eYidence at 

trial once confidentiality has been breached is also not relevant given the facts of our present 

case. ³[«] [T]he societal benefit of a mentall\ health\ populace outZeighs the occasional loss of 

eYidence in federal proceedings.´ Dangerous Patients: An Exception to the Federal 

Psychotherapist-Patient Privilege," 91 KENTUCKY LAW JOURNAL 457, 458 (2002). The Court in 

Jaffee compared the psychotherapist-patient privilege to the spousal and attorney-client privilege 

b\ noting that all are ³rooted in the imperatiYe need for confidence and trust.´ Ibid.  

Furthermore, unless this Court salvages whatever is left for Ms. Gold to utilize this 

privilege, it will be setting a precedent in which the environment of the psychotherapist-patient 

session is limited. If this Court does not reverse this holding, then this Court will deter one in 

four of the 328.2 million Americans who suffer from a mentally diagnosable disorder from being 

open and honest with their psychotherapist.  

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should REVERSE the Fourteenth Circuit¶s holding 

and find that there is no exception to the psychotherapist-patient privilege. 
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II. MV. GROG¶V FRXUWK APHQGPHQW CRQVWLWXWLRQDO 5LJKWV :HUH 9LRODWHG :KHQ WKH 
Police Conducted a Broader Search Than the One Conducted by the Private 
Party. This Court Should Uphold the Privacy Required for Digital Media. The 
Disclosure of the Contents on Ms. GROG¶V LDSWRS CRQVWLWXWHG D 9LRODWLRQ RI MV. 
GROG¶V 5HDVRQDEOH E[SHFWDWLRQ RI PULYDF\.   

The Fourth Amendment proYides ³[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, 

houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, 

[«]´ U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV. A "search" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment occurs 

when an expectation of privacy that society is prepared to consider reasonable is infringed. 

United States v. Jacobsen, 466 U.S. 109, 111 (1984). Unfortunately, the law notoriously lags 

behind advancements in technology. Jennifer L. Moore, et al., The Cost Of Privacy: Riley v. 

CaOLfRUQLa¶V IPSacW OQ CeOO PhRQe SeaUcheV. DESALES UNIVERSITY, 7 (2014). The slow 

response time of the legislature ³perpetuates a legal s\stem constantl\ tr\ing to µcatch up¶ Zith 

innoYation.´ Ibid.  This Court should reverse the lower court's holding and find that evidence that 

is provided to law enforcement as a result of a private search should not exceed the scope of the 

search done by the private party.  

In our present matter, the Fourteenth Circuit distinguished this case from Riley v. 

California b\ stating that ³a flash driYe is not a laptop or a cell phone; it lacks the automaticall\ 

updated location data involved in RLOe\.´ R. at 54. The Fourteenth Circuit further reasoned that 

b\ accessing a flash driYe, ³Officer Yap Zas limited to a small, defined, handpicked pool of 

offline documents.´ Ibid. This Court should disagree with this reasoning. This Court should 

reverse the lower court's holding because Ms. Gold did not consent to Ms. Wildaughter viewing 

the contents of her computer. Even if the private search doctrine applies, Officer Yap violated 

the private search doctrine by going beyond the scope of the search done by the private party.  
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a. MV. WLOGaXJKWHU SHaUFKHG MV. GROG¶V CRPSXWHU WLWKRXW CRQVHQW, aQG 
Disclosed the Findings to Officer Yap. When Officer Yap Was Given the 
USB DULYH ZLWK MV. GROG¶V DHVNWRS RQ LW, HH E[FHHGHG WKH SFRSH RI WKH 
Search Done by Ms. Wildaughter in Violation of Ms. GROG¶V RHaVRQabOH 
Expectation of Privacy. 
 

            The private search doctrine stems from the distinction between private and government 

action. Alexandra Gioseffi, Lichtenberger, Sparks, and Wicks: The Future of the Private Search 

Doctrine, 66 EmoU\ L. J. 395 (2017). ³The FoXUWh AmendmenW SUoVcUibeV goYeUnmenW acWion, 

and does not apply to search or seizure, even an unreasonable one, effected by a private 

individual not acting as an agent of the Government or with the participation or knowledge of 

an\ goYeUnmenWal official.´ Walter v. United States, 447 U.S. 649, 662 (1980). In Walter, this 

CoXUW deVcUibed Whe VcoSe of Whe SUiYaWe VeaUch docWUine b\ VWaWing ³eYen WhoXgh Vome 

circumstances, [...], may justify the Government's re-examination of the materials, the 

Government may not exceed the scope of the private search unless it has the right to make an 

indeSendenW VeaUch´. Id. at 651.  

            In United States v. Sparks, the defendant left their phone at Walmart, where it was found 

and examined by an employee. 806 F.3d 1323 (11th Cir. 2015). The phone was not password 

protected, so when the third party went to look at images to see who she will be meeting with to 

UeWXUn Whe Shone, Vhe VaZ ³TXeVWionable´ imageV. The WhiUd SaUW\ VeaUched WhUoXgh all of the 

photos on the phone to make some sense of it. The third party then took the phone to the police 

station to file a report, he went through and showed the officers the photos which caused him 

concern, searching through the photos in thumbnail form, pausing occasionally. When the police 

handed the phone over to the detective, the detective viewed a video that the private party did not 

view. The Petitioner in Sparks argued that the Government failed to establish that the images 

observed by the police officers and detective formed the basis that led to the issuance of the 
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search warrant because they were not within the scope of the prior search. The Eleventh Circuit 

found that the video the detective watched that the private party did not watch, exceeded the 

breadth of the private search. Id. at 1336.  

            In our present case, Ms. Wildaughter admitted to going into Ms. Gold¶s room and 

looking through her computer after Ms. Gold had left the house. R. at 24. Ms. Wildaughter 

clicked on the ³HerbImmunit\´ folder, and testified that she saZ three subfolders labeled 

³receipts,´ ³confirmations,´ and ³customers.´ Ms. Wildaughter testified to opening only the 

³customers´ folder, Zhere she saZ a folder named ³Tiffan\ Driscoll,´ Zhich Ms. Wildaughter 

states contained photos of Tiffany. After viewing the photos, Ms. Wildaughter found a subfolder 

labeled ³For Tiff´ Zith four documents, three te[t files Zhich Zere titled ³Message to Tiffan\ ± 

draft,´ ³market stuff,´ and ³recipe.´ The fourth document Zas a screenshot of a photo of a 

³receipt.´ Of the four documents Ms. Wildaughter saZ, she onl\ clicked on tZo of them. The 

³market stuff´ document contained codes and passZords, Zhich scared Ms. Wildaughter because 

she did not Zant to YieZ something of Ms. Gold¶s Zhich she thought Zas a secret and did not 

want to cross that line. Ms. Wildaughter ended her search when she saw the reference to rat 

poison. At that point, Ms. Wildaughter copied the entire desktop and took it to the police station 

where she was greeted by Officer Yap. Ms. Wildaughter briefly explained what she saw, and she 

Zarned Officer Yap that eYer\thing on Ms. Gold¶s desktop Zas there.  

            Ms. Wildaughter stated under oath that she did not have permission to go through Ms. 

Gold¶s laptop, so she did feel ³Zeird, like it Zas an inYasion of priYac\,´ Zhich resulted in her 

stating that she ³didn¶t open all the files.´ R.  at 27. Ms. Wildaughter did not eYen ³think of 

looking into any other documents or folders on Ms. Gold¶s laptop.´ Id. at 28. The facts here are 

clear. Ms. Wildaughter only clicked on one of the folders but copied the entire desktop. As a 
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result of turning in the USB to the police, the police Yiolated Ms. Gold¶s Fourth Amendment 

right against illegal searches.  

The Respondent is relying on Rann v. Atchison, where the court held that even if the 

private party did not open the container, the police were permitted to open it if they were 

³substantiall\ certain´ of their contents. 689 F.3d 832 (2012). The question now turns to whether 

there was a reasonable basis for Officer Yap¶s search. The Respondent¶s argument, if folloZed 

here today, will set a precedent that in this digital world, the police do not have to exercise 

caution while viewing digital devices.  

In People v. Michael, the First District held a warrantless police search cannot be 

undertaken under the Fourth Amendment when the private searcher had not determined the illicit 

character [...] on a USB flash drive. 178 Cal. Rptr. 3d 467, 468 (2014). The court in Michael 

applied a ³substantiall\ certain´ test Zhere the police needed to be substantiall\ certain of Zhat 

is inside the container based on the statements of the private searchers, their replication of the 

private search, and their expertise. Id. at 271. There, the appellant had taken his computer to a 

shop for serYicing, and in the course of the Zork, the repairman ³YieZed images on the computer 

of Zhat appeared to him µto be underage girls engaged in se[ual actiYit\,¶´ Id. at 264. After 

viewing these images, the repairman called the police, when the officer who responded to the 

call arrived at the scene, together they continued to look through the computer until they came 

across videos that the repairman was unable to open. Ibid. The repairman, however, was able to 

put the video files on a USB flash drive which he then gave to the officer to take with him to the 

police station. Ibid.  

            In our present case, there was a similar course of events with a few key differences. Ms. 

Wildaughter took a flash drive she compiled from documents on Ms. Gold¶s computer to the 
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Livingston Police Department, where she met with Officer Yap. Ibid. Ms. Wildaughter explained 

what she saw and where she saw it to Officer Yap, and then she left. Ibid. After Ms. Wildaughter 

left, Officer Yap conducted his own search, without a warrant, of all the contents of the flash 

drive. Ibid.   

OIILFHU <DS H[DPLQHG WKH ³FRQILUPDWLRQV´ VXEIROGHU, ZKHUH KH IRXQG D GRFXPHQW WLWOHG 

³SKLSSLQJ CRQILUPDWLRQ´ ZKLFK ZDV D FRQILUPDWLRQ IRU D SDFNDJH VHQW YLD NDWLRQDOE[SUHVV WR 

Ms. DULVFROO RQ MD\ 24, 2017, DW 3:45 S.P. HH WKHQ RSHQHG WKH VXEIROGHU ³FRU TLII´ DQG 

HQFRXQWHUHG WKUHH WH[W GRFXPHQWV: ³MDUNHW SWXII,´ ³UHFLSH,´ DQG ³MHVVDJH WR TLIIDQ\.´ TKH 

³UHFLSH´ GRFXPHQW, FRQWDLQHG D UHFLSH IRU FKRFRODWH FRYHUHG VWUDZEHUULHV, LQFOXGLQJ DQ 

LQJUHGLHQW WLWOHG ³VHFUHW VWXII.´ OIILFHU <DS FRUUHVSRQGLQJO\ ZHQW WKURXgh every document on the 

GULYH LQ WKH RUGHU WKH\ ZHUH OLVWHG, LQFOXGLQJ WKH RWKHU VXEIROGHUV, WKH ³E[DP4´ DQG ³HHDOWK 

IQVXUDQFH ID CDUG´ GRFXPHQWV, DQG WKH EXGJHW, ZKLFK FRQILUPHG D WZR KXQGUHG DQG WZHOYH 

GROODU SXUFKDVH IRU ³TLIIDQ\¶V VWUDZEHUULHV ± secreW VWU\FKQLQH VWXII,´ DORQJ ZLWK SXUFKDVHV IRU 

VWUDZEHUULHV DQG FKRFRODWH FKLSV. LDVWO\, OIILFHU <DS ZHQW WKURXJK GROG¶V WR-do list and saw a 

OLVW RI VHYHUDO SRLVRQV XQGHU D EXOOHW WLWOHG ³UHVHDUFK,´ ZKLFK LQFOXGHG VWU\FKQLQH, ZLWK WH[W 

explaining what dosage of the poison would lead to respiratory failure and brain death. R. at 6. 

This search exceeded the scope of Ms. Wildaughters search.  

This Court in Walter v. United States stated government officials may recreate the private 

search without obtaining a warrant, however, the warrantless government search cannot exceed 

the limits of the initial private search. 447 U.S. 649, 649 (1980). If this Court does not reverse 

this holding, they will be ruling against their own holding.  
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b. There is a Heightened Level of Privacy Concerns Implicated by the Digital 
Age. A Narrow Approach is Consistent with the Purpose of the 
Constitutional Rights Awarded by the Fourth Amendment. 
 

In Riley v. California, this Court, in a unanimous decision, held that a warrant is required 

before a search of a cell phone. 573 U.S. 373, 373 (2014).  In Riley, Rile\¶s cell phone Zas 

removed from the pocket of his pants and searched by the police officer on the scene; he 

reviewed the text messages on the phone, and a few hours after that initial search by the police 

officer, a detective further analyzed the contents of his cell phone at the police station. Ibid.  

This Court in Riley recogni]ed that cell phones are different ³in both a quantitatiYe and 

qualitatiYe sense.´ Riley at 375. Before the modern cell phone with immense storage capacity, a 

search of a person was limited by physical realities and generally constituted only a narrow 

intrusion of privacy. Ibid. This Court recognized three features of a cell phone that are similar to 

a computer. First, the collection of distinct types of information into one place; second, the 

capacity allows even just one type of information to convey far more than previously possible; 

and third, data on the phone can date back years. Ibid. All these characteristics are similar to that 

of a computer. Afterall, ³µcell phone¶ is misleading shorthand; man\ of these deYices are in fact 

minicomputers that also happen to haYe the capacit\ to be used as telephones.´ Id. at 393.  

In Walter v. United States, the recipients of a wrongly delivered package opened the 

package and found ³suggestiYe draZings´ and ³e[plicit descriptions.´ This Court stated that 

even though the FBI agents were lawfully in possession of the boxes, and even though some of 

the boxes were opened by a private party, the FBI agents still needed to have a warrant. 447 U.S. 

at 656.  

The Respondent urges this court to follow the Fifth and Seventh Circuit, however the 

cases the Respondent is relying on are distinguishable from ours. In Rann v. Atchison, the 
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Seventh Circuit held the Police did not exceed the scope of the private searches performed by the 

inmate¶s Yictim and the Yictim¶s mother Zhen the\ subsequentl\ YieZed the images contained on 

the digital media devices brought to them by the victim. 689 F.3d 832, 833 (7th Cir. 2012). In 

Rann, the SeYenth Circuit dismissed the defendant¶s argument that his Fourth Amendment rights 

were violated by the police for exceeding the scope of the search that was done by the private 

party. Ibid at 836. In Rann, the testimonies from the private party also were certain about what 

the contents of the digital media device meant and were. Id. at 838.  

In United States v. Runyan, the Fifth Circuit held again that the police did not violate the 

defendant¶s Fourth Amendment rights Zhen the\ e[ceeded the scope of the priYate search. 275 

F.3d 449 (5th Cir. 2001). In Runyan, however, the facts are distinguishable from our present 

case. Ibid. There, Run\an¶s e[-wife and her friends onl\ YieZed a ³randoml\ selected 

assortment.´ Id. at 460. The Fifth Circuit compared digital media storage to containers and stated 

that unless police can be ³substantiall\ certain of Zhat is inside that container based on the 

statements of the private searches,´ the\ e[ceed the scope of the prior priYate search. Id. at 463. 

The police in Runyan had multiple conYersations, Zith Run\an¶s e[-wife and her friends, so it 

makes sense why the Fifth Circuit concluded the police could be reasonably certain.  

In our present case, reliance on either Runyan or Rann is improper since the facts of our 

current case do not allow us to infer that the police were reasonably certain about the contents in 

the USB drive. Ms. Wildaughter specifically stated she did not know what she was looking at, 

and it ³felt like an inYasion of priYac\.´ R. at 27.  

A broad approach to the search doctrine for reasonable certainty may work in some 

scenarios, but it needs to be established by a case-by-case basis, and in our present case, a broad 

search results in a constitutional violation. This Court should apply a narrow approach to the 



23 
 

private search doctrine, and rule that there needs to be a one-to-one search, where the police will 

exceed the scope if they were to view even one more document than the private party searched.  

This Court should follow United States v. Lichtenberger, where the Sixth Circuit held the 

officer Yiolated the defendant¶s Fourth Amendment right Zhen the officer did not sta\ Zithin the 

scope of the initial priYate search. 786 F.3d 478, 479 (2015). ³[T]he goYernment's abilit\ to 

conduct a warrantless follow-up search of this kind is expressly limited by the scope of the initial 

priYate search.´ Ibid. In Lichtenberger, the defendant¶s girlfriend searched his laptop, and turned 

it over to the police. The defendant successfully argued that because the laptop was in his home 

and because the laptops may contain private information similar to that in a home, then the 

private search doctrine does not apply in his case. Id, at 483. The Sixth Circuit went on to state 

that ³the likelihood that an electronic deYice Zill contain 1) man\ kinds of data, 2) in Yast 

amounts, and 3) corresponding to a long swath of time, convinced the Riley Court that officers 

must obtain a Zarrant before searching such a deYice [«].´ Id, at 488.  

In order to maintain use of the private search doctrine, this Court should ensure that 

police do not go beyond what is shown to them and uphold the Fourth Amendment rights of 

individuals. As a police officer who is informed of the law, Officer Yap should have respected 

the reasonable expectation of privacy that Ms. Gold had for her digital device. For the foregoing 

reasons, this Court should REVERSE the lower courts holding. 

III. 7KH GRYHUQPHQW 9LRODWHG MV. GROG¶V DXH PURFHVV 5LJKWV :KHQ 7KH\ FDLOHG to 
Divulge Two FBI Reports to tKH DHIHQVH 7KDW CRXOG¶YH PRWHQWLDOO\ E[RQHUDWHG 
Ms. Gold, Done so in Violation of the Procedural Safeguards Established in 
Brady vs. Maryland. 
 

This Court stated, ³the suppression b\ the prosecution of eYidence faYorable to an 

accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to 

punishment, irrespectiYe of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution,´ Brady v. Maryland, 
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373 U.S. 83, 88 (1963). The Government has deprived Ms. Gold of her due process rights by 

withholding exculpatory evidence from her before trial and that evidence was material to her 

case. 

Justice William O. Douglas Zrote, ³Societ\ Zins not onl\ Zhen the guilt\ are conYicted 

but when criminal trials are fair; our system of the administration of justice suffers when any 

accused is treated unfairl\.´ Ibid.  In this case, society has not won, and the accused has not been 

treated fairly. The court in Erickson opined, ³To establish a Brady violation, the defendant must 

proYe,´ (1) ³that the prosecution suppressed the eYidence,´ (2) ³the eYidence Zas faYorable to 

the defense,´ and (3) ³the eYidence Zas material.´ United States v. Erickson, 561 F.3d 1150, 

1164 (2009). Here, the Government withheld evidence that, had it been disclosed, would have 

undermined the confidence of the outcome at trial; leaving this Court with no other option than 

to conclude Ms. Gold¶s due process rights, according to Brady, have been violated. 

a. The Government Suppressed Two FBI Reports.  

³The prosecutor in a criminal case shall [. . .] make timel\ disclosure to the defense of all 

evidence or information known to the prosecutor that tends to negate the guilt of the accused or 

mitigates the offense.´ ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct 3.8(d). Before this court 

today lies a criminal case, one that bound the prosecutor, and by extension, the Government, to 

disclose all evidence to defense before trial. This Court recognized this obligation in Kyles, 

noting, ³Zhether the prosecutor succeeds or fails in meeting this obligation [. . .] the prosecutor¶s 

responsibility for failing to disclose known, favorable evidence rising to a material level of 

importance is inescapable.´ Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 436 (1995). In every criminal case, 

the prosecutor, acting as the spearhead for the Government, must give all evidence to the 

defense. In the present case, the prosecution failed to do so by withholding two FBI reports 
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which pointed at two individuals as the killer of Ms. Driscoll, two individuals other than Ms. 

Gold. 

The court in Dennis understood, ³Prosecutors haYe an affirmatiYe dut\ to µdisclose 

[Brady] eYidence [. . .] eYen though there has been no request [for the eYidence] b\ the accused,¶ 

Zhich ma\ include eYidence knoZn onl\ to police.´ DeQQLV Y. Sec¶\, Pa. DeSW. Rf CRUU., 834 

F.3d 263, 285 (2016); quoting Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 280 (1999). In Dennis, the 

court found the prosecutors had a duty to disclose three pieces of evidence to the defense, even 

when defense had not requested them in the first place. Applying that standard here, the 

prosecutors had a duty to disclose the FBI reports to defense prior to trial. Even if the 

prosecution claims they had no knowledge of the reports, the duty to disclose pursuant to Brady 

is not overcome. This Court affirmed this principle in Kyles, stating, ³To compl\ Zith Brady, 

prosecutors must learn of an\ faYorable eYidence knoZn to the others acting on the goYernment¶s 

behalf [. . .] including the police.´ Kyles, 514 U.S. at 437. Given these requirements from this 

Court, it would not matter whether or not the Government knew the FBI reports existed, as the 

FBI is an extension of the police as both are law enforcement entities. 

         In the present case, however, the Government had knowledge of these two reports and 

actually had them in their possession prior to trial. In the Fourteenth Circuit¶s holding it clearl\ 

states the Government was in possession of the statements provided to the FBI prior to trial. R. at 

55. The Government even admitted to having these reports before trial because it tried to justify 

its reasoning for not disclosing the reports. The Government argued that it did not disclose the 

information based on their own reasoning that the records were hearsay. Ibid. The GoYernment¶s 

justification for not disclosing the reports, solidifies that it possessed the reports and suppressed 

them from the defense prior to trial, in clear violation of the requirements set forth in Brady. 
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         Further, there can be no argument that Ms. Gold could have learned of the FBI reports by 

her own diligence and investigation. The court in Spears v. Mullin noted, ³there can be no 

suppression by the state of evidence already known by and available to the defendant prior to 

trial.´ 343 F.3d 1215, 1256 (2003). Nothing in the record in the present case suggests defense 

had an\ knoZledge of these FBI reports prior to trial. Some courts haYe held there is ³no Brady 

Yiolation . . . Zhen [the] defendant µkneZ or should haYe knoZn the essential facts permitting 

him to take adYantage of an\ e[culpator\ information¶ or Zhen the eYidence is aYailable to him 

from another source, such as a Zitness µto Zhom he had as much access as the police.¶´ 

Erickson, 561 F.3d at 1164; quoting Coe v. Bell, 161 F.3d 320, 344 (1998). Like the 

aforementioned notion in Spears, the same analysis applies here. Nothing in the record suggests 

defense should have known about the essential facts of the reports, particularly regarding Special 

Agent Mar\ Baer¶s report discussing CaploZ¶s interYieZ. There is nothing to suggest Ms. Gold 

kneZ or should haYe knoZn of CaploZ¶s knoZledge or inYolYement Zith the case, especiall\ 

CaploZ¶s statement that Ms. Driscoll owed money to Martin Brodie. With nothing suggesting 

defense had any knoZledge of these facts, there is nothing to defeat Ms. Gold¶s Brady claim. 

         In conclusion, this Court has held that prosecutors have an affirmative duty to disclose 

evidence that is in their possession to the defense before trial. The record clearly states that the 

government was in possession of two FBI reports prior to trial, and they failed to disclose those 

reports to the defense. R. at 55. Thus, the first prong of Ms. Gold¶s Brady claim, that the 

Government suppressed the evidence, has been satisfied. 

b. 7KH 7ZR FBI 5HSRUWV LQ WKH GRYHUQPHQW¶V PRVVHVVLRQ DUH FDYRUDEOH WR MV. 
GROG¶V DHIHQVH.  
 

 This Court stated the suppressed eYidence ³must be faYorable to the accused, either 

because it is e[culpator\, or because it is impeaching.´ Kyles, 514 U.S. at 437. The two FBI 
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reports in question today present exculpatory evidence that the defense could have used to 

bolster her stance at trial. Evidence that put forth names of possible other murder suspects will 

always be exculpatory to the defense, even if the FBI found the leads to be fruitless. In Dennis, 

the defendant was tried and convicted of murder. At trial, witnesses could not corroborate his 

story that he had nothing to do with the crime in the first place. It was discovered that three 

pieces of evidence were suppressed by the prosecution: a welfare benefits receipt, inconsistent 

statements, and documents regarding a tip from an inmate. Dennis, 834 F.3d 263. All three of 

these pieces of evidence were favorable to the defendant because they corroborated his defense. 

The case and reasoning behind the favorability of evidence in Dennis can directly be 

applied to the two pieces of evidence in this case. The two FBI reports in the present case would 

have offered Ms. Gold an avenue to prove she was not the murderer. They would have allowed 

her to mount a stronger defense in front of the jury and prove her innocence. The Third Circuit 

Zent on to state, ³The United States Supreme Court has made plain that the . . . evidence ma\ be 

considered favorable under Brady even if the jury might not afford it significant Zeight.´ Dennis, 

834 F.3d at 287, see Kyles, 514 U.S. at 450-51. Assuming the jury would not have paid much 

attention to the FBI reports in trial, that does not take aZa\ their favorabilit\ toZards Ms. Gold¶s 

case. 

Finally, this Court in Kyles states ³the ver\ fact that the character of a piece of evidence 

as favorable Zill often turn on the conte[t of the e[isting or potential evidentiar\ record.´ Kyles, 

514 U.S. at 440. After looking at the record and the evidence that was presented against Ms. 

Gold at trial, there is no question these FBI reports are favorable to her. In a news article released 

b\ the school, it plainl\ states ³no forensic evidence Zas found an\Zhere in the house [. . .] no 

footprints, no fingerprints, and no Zeapons.´ R at 13. In a second news article released, after 
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finding a random bo[ of straZberries in Ms. Driscoll¶s room, Lead DetectiYe Barr\ Apple stated 

³We feel like Ze finall\ ma\ be on to something, Zhich is a huge relief.´ R at 14. It was a huge 

relief because there was no other evidence to go off of. The detectives had no evidence linking 

Ms. Gold to the murder and once they found even the slightest piece of evidence, they assumed it 

was case closed. The FBI reports would have proven there was another aspect and avenue for the 

defense to follow. Importantly, the reports would have provided the jury with another suspect to 

consider. Thus, since the FBI reports are favorable to Ms. Gold, the second prong of Ms. Gold¶s 

Brady claim, that the evidence was favorable, has been satisfied.  

c. The 6XSSUHVVHG FDYRUDEOH FBI 5HSRUWV DUH MDWHULDO WR WKH DHIHQVH¶V CDVH.    
 

The third, and arguably most important, prong of Brady requires that the favorable 

evidence suppressed by the government must be material. EYidence is considered ³material´ 

under Brady ³onl\ Zhere there e[ists a µreasonable probabilit\¶ that had the eYidence been 

disclosed the result at trial Zould haYe been different.´ Kyles, 514 U.S. at 433-34. This Court 

Zent on to clarif\, ³a µreasonable probabilit\,¶ [is] one that is µsufficient to undermine the 

confidence in the outcome¶ of trial.´ Ellsworth v. Warden, 333 F.3d 1, 5 (2003); quoting United 

States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682, 87 (1985). The two FBI reports in question are sufficient to 

undermine the confidence of the outcome at trial because they provided at least one, legitimate 

suspect, other than the Ms. Gold, who could have committed this heinous crime. This 

information could have caused a reasonable doubt in the jury when entering its verdict. 

This Court has seen its fair share of Brady claims, so it is full\ aZare that ³a shoZing of 

materiality does not require demonstration by a preponderance that disclosure of the suppressed 

eYidence Zould haYe resulted ultimatel\ in the defendant¶s acquittal.´ Kyles, 514 U.S. at 435. 

Ms. Gold, ³need not prove that it is more likely than not that [she] would have received a 
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different Yerdict Zith the eYidence, µbut Zhether in the absence [of the eYidence she] receiYed a 

fair trial, understood as a trial resulting in a Yerdict Zorth\ of confidence.´ Bradley v. Nagle, 212 

F.3d 559, 568 (2000); quoting Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434. Utilizing these two holdings, it stands that 

Ms. Gold need only show that, had these FBI reports been disclosed, the jury would have had 

reasonable doubt to find a verdict against her. 

The real crux of the materiality element before this Court today stems from whether or 

not ³inadmissible´ eYidence can form the basis of a Brady claim. This is the crux of the 

argument because, currently, there remains a circuit split on this issue. The Fourteenth Circuit 

noted this distinction, stating ³There is currentl\ no uniform circuit approach to the treatment of 

inadmissible evidence as the basis for a Brady claim.´ R at 56. The FBI reports are material to 

the case. This Court in Bagley answered the issue of inadmissibilit\, stating, ³giYen the polic\ 

underlying Brady . . . evidence itself inadmissible could be so promising a lead to strong 

e[culpator\ eYidence that there could be no justification for Zithholding it.´ Bagley, 437 U.S. at 

6. The evidence in question here, one, an anonymous tip alleging Belinda Stevens was the true 

murderer of Tiffany Driscoll; and the second, a tip from Caplow suggesting Martin Brodie was 

the true murderer. The two reports fall identical with the issue and holding from Dennis where 

the court opined, ³Zithholding impeachment material that is germane to a critical aspect of the 

case ± as here, the identity of the perpetrator ± violates Brady.´  Dennis, 834 F.3d at 302. Like 

Dennis, the critical aspect in the present case is the culprit of Ms. Driscoll¶s tragic death. 

In Wood v. Bartholomew, a defendant was tried and convicted of first-degree murder 

committed in the course of a robbery. 516 U.S. 1 (1995). After trial, defense asserted a Brady 

violation claiming the GoYernment suppressed tZo pol\graph tests of the defendant¶s brother 

and girlfriend. Ibid. This Court reasoned that the polygraph tests were inadmissible and defense 
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could not have made a mention of them during trial. Ibid. The polygraph results would also not 

have changed the outcome at trial because they would have only proved the defendant had an 

accomplice in the killing and robbery, it would not exonerated him. Ibid. Wood now sets the 

foundation for debate in the Circuit Courts as to whether or not inadmissible evidence can form 

the basis of a Brady claim.  

The Fourteenth Circuit seemed to think that the name of a potential suspect, that 

suspect¶s potential motiYe for murder, and the potential suspects knoZn histor\ of Yiolence Zas 

not enough to undermine the confidence of the outcome at trial. The court sided with 

Respondent¶s theor\ that inadmissible eYidence cannot form the basis of a Brady claim. They 

rely on two cases that interpret Wood in a way that does not provide justice for the accused. First, 

in Madsen, the eighth circuit held inadmissible evidence cannot form the basis for a Brady 

violation. Madsen v. Dormire, 137 F. 3d 602 (1998). In Madsen, the defendant was tried and 

convicted of forcible rape and sodomy. After trial, the defense learned the prosecution 

suppressed the testimony of a forensic chemist, whose blood work tests came back inconclusive 

as to Zhether the Yictim Zas eYer in the defendant¶s house. The prosecution suppressed this 

evidence because they deemed the chemist incompetent. The eighth circuit denied defenses 

Brady claim because it deemed the evidence inadmissible that would not have changed the 

outcome at trial. Madsen is distinguishable from the present case.  

In Madsen, the testimony of the victim who was raped was backed by concrete evidence 

found at the scene (a knife used to subdue the victim, the rope used to control the victim, and a 

bloody towel the victim used to wipe her hand) which the State presented at trial. Consequently, 

the inadmissible evidence would not have done anything to undermine the confidence of the 

outcome of trial, thus no Brady claim was formed. Here, the evidence presented to convict Ms. 
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Gold was circumstantial. The only tangible evidence found at the scene was the box of 

strawberries laced with strychnine, which cannot be proven to be sent from Ms. Gold, beyond a 

reasonable doubt. The tZo FBI reports in the present case are distinguishable from the chemist¶s 

testimony in Madsen in that the FBI reports undermine the confidence in the outcome of this 

trial, where the testimony in Madsen did not.  

Ne[t, Respondent cites to the third circuit¶s decision in Hoke v. Netherland, 92 F. 3d 

1350 (1996). In that case, the defendant was tried and convicted of capital murder in the 

commission of robbery, rape, and abduction. Hoke filed a Brady claim asserting his due process 

rights were violated when the government failed to disclose three police interviews with men 

who had sexual relations with the victim in the past. The court there opined that the interviews 

were inadmissible hearsay and could not form the basis of a Brady claim. The facts and 

reasoning the court used there is distinguishable from our present matter. The interviews Hoke 

referred to only proved that the woman had sex with the men in her past. Even if the court there 

accepted the evidence, it would have had no bearing on the outcome, the outcome that the 

defendant killed the woman. In the present case, if the FBI reports were disclosed, defense could 

have introduced a real, legitimate suspect that could have committed the murder. The present 

case is distinguishable from Hoke because here, the evidence would have absolved Ms. Gold of 

the crime, not just taken an added offense away. The inadmissible evidence here is much 

different because it points at two people who may have committed the murder, and at least one of 

those had a motive to kill Ms. Driscoll.  

Assuming this Court deems that the FBI reports were inadmissible hearsay for trial, this 

does not absolve the prosecution of its duty to disclose because it does not take away the 

materialit\ of the eYidence. The Third Circuit opined, ³There is no requirement that leads be 
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fruitful to trigger disclosure under Brady, and it cannot be that if the [Government] fails to 

pursue a lead, or deems it fruitless, that it is absolved of its responsibility to turn over to the 

defense counsel any Brady material.´ Dennis, 834 F.3d at 307. It is not for the prosecutor to 

decide what is fruitful and what is not, they need only disclose what they have in their possession 

and leave it for the court to believe the defense as to whether or not the evidence is material.  

The only question that needs answering comes from this Court¶s decision in Giglio v. 

United States. 405 U.S. 150, 155 (1972). This Court opined that evidence is material when there 

is, ³an\ reasonable likelihood [the eYidence could] haYe affected the judgement of the jur\.´ 

Ibid. The two FBI reports would have affected the jury because they would not have been able to 

say, beyond a reasonable doubt, Ms. Gold was the killer; leaving this Court with no other 

decision than to deem the reports as material thus providing the basis of a valid Brady claim. 

Thus, the third prong of Ms. Gold¶s Brady claim, the evidence was material, has been satisfied.  

In conclusion, the Government suppressed two FBI reports from the defense, in violation 

of their duties in this case. The two FBI reports were favorable to the defense because they were 

exculpatory pieces of information that would have allowed the defense to present its best case. 

Finally, the FBI reports were material in that there is a reasonable likelihood, had they been 

admitted, they would have undermined the confidence of the outcome at trial.  

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner, Ms. Samantha Gold, respectfully requests this court 

to REVERSE the decision of the Fourteenth Circuit Court of Appeals. 

 Respectfully submitted,  
 

Team 31 
Brief for Petitioner  


